1954

# In the Matter of the Order Issued to American Buyers Insurance Company and Producers Mutual Insurance Company, utah Corporations : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

ISSUED TO AMERICAN BUYERS  
INSURANCE COMPANY AND  
PRODUCERS MUTUAL INSUR-  
ANCE COMPANY, UTAH CORPO-  
RATIONS.

} Case No.  
8117

---

## BRIEF OF APPELLANTS STATEMENT OF FACTS

---

American Buyers Insurance Company of Utah and Producers Mutual Insurance Company of Utah hereinafter designated as appellants, are both mutual benefit associations as such are defined by the statutes of the State of Utah. This conclusion is compelled by virtue of the introduction and admission in evidence of the certificates of authority of the two companies (R. 21-22, 57 and 42-43 and 60). No evidence to rebut this *prima facie* determination was offered or introduced at the hearing. Section 31-31-1, U.C.A. 1953 provides in part: "A duly certified copy or duplicate of such certificate

(certificate of authority) shall be prima facie evidence that the licensee is a benefit association within the meaning of this chapter." (Material in parenthesis added.)

Appellant companies are engaged in the sale of mutual benefit association life insurance policies to members of their respective associations. The policy holders, through a trust agreement, assign their dividends, if any, on their life insurance policies. The trustees, in accordance with the trust agreement, purchase stock for the policy holders in the company designated by the trust agreement (R. 50-51). It was by this procedure that the securities were sold or offered in connection with the sale of insurance.

The only issue before the Insurance Commission and the Department of Business Regulation at the hearing below was whether these mutual benefit associations could legally offer and sell securities along with and in connection with the sale of insurance (R. 18 and 85). Appellants both admitted that they were selling securities in conjunction with the sale of their insurance policies (R. 25 and 46).

The appellants were duly licensed to sell securities and both companies introduced into the record, certified copies of their "Certificates of Registration" issued by the Utah Securities Commission (R. 58, 58a, 58b, 61, 61a and 61b). The sales force of both companies are licensed both as insurance agents and securities salesmen (R. 32 and 50).

Counsel for the State of Utah stipulated that there was "no question involved in this matter of solvency of these firms." (R. 114-115).

After the conclusion of the hearing before the Insurance Commission and the Department of Business Regulation, an order was entered directing the appellants to cease and desist within ten days, "from selling, offering or promising to give, or allowing in any manner whatsoever any shares of stock or other securities issued or at any time to be issued or any interests or rights therein in connection with or as an inducement to the purchase of any insurance or insurance type benefit." (R. 87).

Thereafter an appeal was taken to the District Court where by stipulation (R. 127) all parties agreed to submit the matter to the District Court for determination upon the record made in the hearing before the Department of Business Regulation and the Insurance Commission. Thereafter the District Court by its order duly entered affirmed the above order of the Department of Business Regulation and the Insurance Commission (R. 155). This appeal is taken from the order of the District Court.

## SPECIFICATIONS OF ERROR

The order of the Department of Business Regulation and the Insurance Commission of the State of Utah is in error in the following particulars :

(a) The Department of Business Regulation, the Insurance Department of the State of Utah and the District Court as a matter of law erroneously conclude

that petitioners are insurers and persons as defined by the Insurance Code of the State of Utah, and therefore they are subject to the general insurance code.

(b) The Department of Business Regulation, the Insurance Department of the State of Utah and the District Court erroneously conclude that petitioners are bound by Section 31-27-15 and 31-7-17, Utah Code Annotated 1953.

(c) The Department of Business Regulation, the Insurance Department of the State of Utah and the District Court have failed to recognize the special treatment to which petitioners are entitled by reason of holding certificates of authority to engage in the insurance business as Mutual Benefit Associations.

(d) The Department of Business Regulation, the Insurance Department of the State of Utah and the District Court have totally disregarded Chapter 31, Utah Code Annotated 1953, and in particular Sections 31-1-14 and 31-31-15 thereof.

(e) The Department of Business Regulation, the Insurance Department of the State of Utah and the District Court have disregarded pertinent and controlling decisions by the Utah and Supreme Courts of other States.

(f) The sale of securities by petitioners in conjunction or in connection with the sale of insurance had been theretofore considered and approved by the Insurance Commission and had by petitioners been carried on for in excess of two years, with the full knowledge and approval of the Insurance Commission.



(g) Said Order is void, arbitrary and capricious and without any support or foundation in the record or at law.

## ARGUMENT

### I

#### APPELLANTS ARE MUTUAL BENEFIT ASSOCIATIONS.

On the present state of the record it must be conceded that appellants are mutual benefit associations as such are defined by the Statutes of the State of Utah. This conclusion is compelled by virtue of the introduction and admittance in evidence of the certificates of authority of the two companies and the fact that no other evidence in rebuttal of this *prima facie* determination was introduced at the hearing. See 31-31-1, UCA 1953.

See also, *State v. Royal Neighbors of America*, 44 New Mexico 8, 96 P. 2d 705 (New Mexico 1939). At Page 709 the Court discusses the effect of a duly certified copy or duplicate of the license as proof that the company was a fraternal benefit society. In fact the Court went far beyond anything necessary to these appellants in establishing their status. The New Mexico Court went so far as to hold that when the particular company involved was licensed as a fraternal benefit society its status was irrevocably established for the particular period involved.

The record in this case establishes the fact, without contradiction, that appellants are *mutual benefit associa-*

tions, which associations are authorized to write various kinds of insurance. The first sentence of Section 31-31-10, Utah Code Annotated 1953, refers to "contracts of life insurance" issued by these associations. Section 31-31-11 limits the "amount of insurance" risk which these associations may assume. Thus appellants are by statute special kinds of companies or associations engaged in writing limited policies of insurance. The fact that they are incorporated, and the fact that they are *successfully* writing insurance for the *members* of the association does not alter their statutory nature. They are still *mutual benefit associations*.

THERE REMAINS FOR DISCUSSION, THEN, THE SOLE QUESTION AS TO WHETHER IT IS ILLEGAL FOR APPELLANTS, AS MUTUAL BENEFIT ASSOCIATIONS, TO SELL SECURITIES IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF POLICIES OF LIFE INSURANCE.

## II

### MUTUAL BENEFIT ASSOCIATIONS ARE EXEMPT FROM THE GENERAL INSURANCE CODE.

Prohibition against security sales in connection with insurance sales is claimed by the Attorney General's Office by reason of Sections 31-7-17 and 31-27-15, UCA 1953, and also by reason of the Supreme Court of Utah decision in the case of *Utah Association of Life Underwriters v. Mountain States Life Insurance Co.* 58 Utah 579, 200 P. 673.

Conversely, appellants claim exemption from the General Insurance Laws of the state, and particularly the above cited sections, by reason of 31-31-15 UCA 1953, which reads as follows:

“Exemptions from other provisions of code.  
—Except as provided in this chapter, every such association shall not be subject to the other provisions of this code unless the context clearly indicates applicability to such association.”

Appellants urge to this Commission the applicability and determinativeness of the decision by the Utah Supreme Court in the case of *Braddock, by Smith v. Pacific Woodmen Life Association*, 89 Utah 75, 54 P. 2d 1189. In this case the plaintiff sued as beneficiary of a certificate of fraternal benefit insurance issued on the life of his father. The defendant association denied liability on the ground that certain statements made by the assured in his application for insurance were warranties and since they were untrue they thereby voided the policy. By General Insurance Statute of the State of Utah it is provided that the policy shall constitute the entire contract between the parties and that all statements made by the insured shall, in the absence of fraud, be deemed representations and not warranties. The defendant association contended that inasmuch as it was a fraternal benefit association it was therefore not subject to the General Insurance Laws. The Supreme Court held for the defendant association, stating that by reason of Revised Statutes 1933, 43-9-4, 43-1-1, fraternal benefit societies were not subject to the general provisions of the Insurance Code.

Appellants earnestly submit that while in the Pacific Woodmen case the company involved was a fraternal organization, as distinguished from appellants who are mutual benefit associations, still the legal proposition is the same. Both classes of organizations enjoy a statutory exemption from the General Insurance Laws of Utah. *There is no reason for this Court to make a distinction between a fraternal organization and any other type of exempted organization by honoring one exemption and disallowing the other.*

Indeed the cases have not made any such distinction, as evidenced by the fact that exemption has been granted to the following:

See *State Ex Rel Conner, Attorney General v. Western Mutual Benefit Association*, 47 Idaho 360, 276 P. 37 (Idaho 1929). In this case the Idaho Supreme Court held that the Western Mutual Benefit Association was exempt from the General Insurance Statutes of the State of Idaho, despite the fact that the company did not have a representative form of government; that it wasn't governed by the lodge system; that it did not have an initiation or ritualistic form of work; and that the benefits it paid were not confined to a limited class of persons. The Court held this company to be a benevolent order or society, which, under the laws of Idaho, was granted an exemption from the General Insurance Code.

See also, *Neighbors of Woodcraft v. Westover*, 99 Colo. 231, 61 P. 2d 585 (Colorado 1936). In this case the Colorado Supreme Court held that the company was a fraternal society operating on the lodge plan, and that

it had been admitted to do business in Colorado as a fraternal benevolent society. The General Insurance Laws of the State provided that the suicide of a policyholder after the first year should not be a defense against the payment of a policy. This general provision relating to suicide was directed by the terms of the statute to the policies of "any life insurance company." There was a provision in the general Colorado Insurance Statutes as follows:

"This act shall not apply to fraternal benefit societies as defined in Chapter 139 of the laws passed at the 18th Session of the General Assembly of the State of Colorado, except as therein otherwise expressly provided."

The Court held that it was the consistent intention of the legislature to exempt fraternal benefit societies from the operation of the general insurance laws of the state.

See also, *National Aid Life Association v Abbott*, 178 Okla. 319, 62 P. 2d 982 (Okla. 1936). This case involved a *mutual benefit company*. The question before the Court was whether the General Insurance Laws of the State of Oklahoma applied to this type of company. The Court cited prior decisions with respect to fraternal benefit societies wherein the Court had held that by virtue of the intention of the legislature these companies were exempt from the general insurance laws, and then said:

"The Fraternal Benefit Act and the Mutual Benefit Act are of such character that we have no hesitancy in applying the case of *National*

Benevolent Society v. Russell insofar as it affects Section 10-519." (This section has to do with the operations of mutual benefit companies.)

Thus the Court held that the mutual benefit company was not subject to the general insurance laws of the state.

See also, *Fidelity Life Association v. Hobbs*, 161 Kansas 163, 166 P. 2d 1001 (Kansas 1946). In this case the Kansas Supreme Court held that it was the intent and purpose of the legislature to place fraternal benefit societies in a class by themselves, make them amenable to conditions, and subject them to regulatory powers and supervision different from those of insurance companies in general. See particularly the discussion at 166 Pac. 2d., Page 1006.

Moreover, it should not be overlooked that the mutual benefit associations are not the only organizations granted exemptions under the Utah Insurance Code. In this regard note the following sections under UCA 1953:

- 31-32-23 applicable to cooperatives.
- 31-21-18 applicable to mutual fire companies.
- 31-30-3 applicable to hospital service plan.
- 31-29-4 applicable to fraternal benefit associations.

It is worthy of note that even though cooperative associations are granted the exemption by the section above cited, still by Section 31-32-22, UCA 1953, said cooperative associations, their officers, directors, agents and employees are subject to all the provisions of Chapter 27 of the Code, and Chapter 27, of course, contains one of the prohibition sections upon which the Attorney

General places reliance. There is no reference anywhere in the chapter of the code relating to *mutual benefit associations* which requires that said associations comply with Chapter 27.

If the Attorney General's contention is sound that the legislature intended these unusual organizations and associations to be bound by the general regulatory provisions of the Insurance Code, why, then, did the legislature specifically enact Section 31-32-22, Utah Code Annotated 1953? Certainly the fact that the legislature specifically directed that cooperative insurance companies must comply with all of the provisions of Chapter 27 of the Insurance Code must have indicated that without this specific mandate these companies would not have been subject to this chapter of the Code.

In connection with these various statutory exemptions particular attention is called to Section 31-1-14 UCA 1953, which reads as follows:

“Construction of code—Particular paramount over general.—Provisions of this code relating to a particular kind of insurance or a particular type of insurer prevail over provisions relating to insurance in general or insurers in general.”

Now let us discuss Section 31-31-1, wherein it is stated:

“Every association (mutual benefit association) \* \* \* which desires to do such a business in this State shall comply with all the requirements and provisions of this chapter, and the General Insurance Laws of Utah *relative to said association* \* \* \*.” (Italics added.)

The Attorney General apparently wishes this Court to ignore the meaning of the word "relative." This word cannot be ignored since to do so requires the interpreter to completely disregard and wipe out the effect of 31-31-15. Acceptance of the word "relative" in the context in which it is used results, however, in a reasonable interpretation of the two sections, and this is amply supported by the case law on the subject, that each statute is to be construed so that the whole is made harmonious.

Scrutinizing the various legislative enactments also furnishes some light on this matter. Initially the mutual benefit insurance section first appeared in the Code in 1935. It should be observed that at the date of decision in the *Mountain States Life Insurance Company* case (1921), which is heavily relied upon by the Attorney General, there were no statutory provisions for mutual benefit associations in the State of Utah. Furthermore, the Mountain States Life Insurance Company was not a domestic mutual benefit association and did not claim to be. Thus, since the statutes before the Court in that decision were entirely different from those now on the books in the State of Utah, and since subsequent to the decision by the Utah Supreme Court in that case the legislature saw fit to amend the insurance laws extensively, we feel that the case *has no bearing at all on mutual benefit association companies*. Let us enlarge upon these statutory changes referred to in the preceding sentence.

As before stated, Laws of Utah 1935, Chapter 41, sanctioned mutual benefit associations. In 1941 the legis-



lature enacted Section 43-11-13 (i), wherein mutual benefit associations were specifically prohibited from offering, giving, or selling securities in conjunction with the sale of insurance. At that precise time the Insurance Code definition of "insurance company" included "all corporations, associations, partnerships and individuals engaged as principals in the insurance business, excepting fraternal and benevolent orders and societies." 43-1-1, Utah Code Annotated 1943). Also at that same time "insurance companies" were then prohibited from offering, giving or selling securities in conjunction with the sale of insurance by virtue of the general prohibition found in Section 43-3-33 and 34, Utah Code Annotated 1943. Nevertheless the legislature in 1941 enacted the special prohibition found in Section 43-11-13 (i) mentioned above.

By the Laws of Utah 1947, not only was Section 13(i), Chapter 44, Laws of 1941 (the section prohibiting mutual benefit companies from selling securities in conjunction with insurance) *removed*, but there was *added* the exemption section, 43-31-15, Utah Code Annotated 1943, Pocket Parts, which section has been retained and carried forward from that date to the present, where it now appears as Section 31-31-15, Utah Code Annotated 1953. So we have a legislative history wherein mutual benefit associations were in 1941 expressly subjected to the prohibition against selling stock in conjunction with the issuance of life insurance policies, and a subsequent removal of that specific prohibition from the chapter pertaining to mutual benefit associations. Concurrently with the removal of the prohibition we find the legislature

enacting for the first time the section exempting mutual benefit associations from the General Insurance Code. It cannot be supposed that the legislature's actions were meaningless. The mandate of the legislature seems plain and unambiguous; namely, that these mutual benefit associations shall not be subject to the other provisions of the Code unless the *context clearly indicates applicability to such association*.

The Attorney General argued below that since the appellants were engaged in the assumption of insurance risks, and were "persons" as defined in the general insurance Code that they were necessarily therefore subject to the entire insurance code. Appellant companies do not deny that they are engaged in the assumption of insurance risks, nor do they deny that technically they are "persons" as defined in Section 31-1-9, Utah Code Annotated 1953. But they do point out that mutual benefit associations are not subject to the other provisions of the Insurance Code, unless the context clearly indicates *applicability to such association*. If by virtue, alone, of the broad definition of "person" and "insurer" these associations are to be brought under section 31-27 15 Utah Code Annotated 1953, then by the same token each and every section and chapter of the general Insurance Code would likewise apply to these respondents. This follows because all parts of the general Insurance Code, without exception, apply to and govern either "persons" or "insurers." Such a construction would therefore completely nullify and wipe out the language of section 31-31-15, exempting these companies from the remaining provisions of the Code. That such a construc-

tion was never intended by the legislature is manifest. Our own Supreme Court very clearly recites the rule which governs a case such as this in *Board of Education v. Bryner*, 57 Utah 78, 192 Pac. 627, at 629 (Utah 1920). Our Supreme Court there said:

"It follows that in order to determine the intention and purpose of the lawmaker, and to harmonize conflicting provisions where such occur, it at times becomes necessary for the courts to expand or to restrict the ordinary and usual meaning of words, phrases, or clauses found in a particular section or statute. In that connection it is also necessary to observe the cardinal rule of construction that every word and phrase must be given some force and effect if possible, and this notwithstanding the fact that in doing so the effect of the particular section or statute may thereby be enlarged or restricted as the case may be. When, therefore, the language of a section or statute is ambiguous and doubtful, and on reading the language there is doubt whether it should be applied in accordance with its ordinary and usual meaning or whether it should receive an enlarged or restricted construction and effect, it is the duty of the courts to look beyond the statute if by doing so they can better determine the intention and purpose of the lawmakers. Moreover, as a means of ascertaining the true intention of the lawmakers, it may also be necessary to inquire into and scan the history of the particular statute in question, and in connection therewith consider the general purpose of the lawmakers in formulating and passing laws upon a particular subject and that is particularly true in cases where different sections or provisions relating to the same subject-matter are conflicting or ambiguous."

The legislative history of this prohibition against selling securities with insurance has already been recited in this brief. However as conclusive evidence that the legislature itself is not in accord with the position that mutual benefit associations are, merely because they are "insurers", subject to the general insurance code provisions governing insurers, we call attention to section 31-31-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953. This section specifically requires that agents of mutual benefit associations must be licensed pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Insurance Code. An examination of Chapter 17 readily discloses that all persons authorized by an "insurer" to solicit applications for insurance are agents, who must be licensed by the Commission. Thus, if the attorney general's argument is sound, all agents of mutual benefit associations were required to be licensed by virtue of the provisions of Chapter 17. The legislature, however, did not believe this to be true, as they enacted a specific section applying to agents of mutual benefit associations. Again we must conclude that there was a reason for the enactment of Section 31-31-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953. The obvious reason was that without the enactment of this section, the legislature had concluded that agents of mutual benefit associations would not be required to be licensed by the Insurance Commission.

We submit that this legislative history compels the conclusion that by repealing Section 43-11-13 (i), U.C.A. 1943, and at the same time granting mutual benefit associations an exemption from the general Insurance Code

(31-31-15, Utah Code Annotated 1953), left these companies free to offer, seek, or give securities in conjunction with the sale of insurance.

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