1954

In the Matter of the Order Issued to American Buyers Insurance Company and Producers Mutual Insurance Company, Utah Corporations : Brief of Respondent State of Utah Department of Business Regulation Insurance Commission

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF UTAH HAS CLEARLY INDICATED THAT IT IS THEIR INTENTION THAT THE SALE OF INSURANCE BE KEPT SEPARATE FROM THE SALE OF SECURITIES; THAT THE MERITS OF THE INSURANCE POLICIES OFFERED BY INSURANCE COMPANIES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED SEPARATE FROM THE MERITS OF ANY SECURITIES WHICH MIGHT BE OFFERED BY INSURANCE COMPANIES OR INSURANCE SALESMEN.

The particular section of our Insurance Code which has given rise to this action is found in 31-27-15, U.C.A. 1953, and reads in part as follows:

No insurer, general agent, agent, broker, solicitor, or other person, shall, as an inducement to the purchase of insurance, or in connection with any insurance transaction, provide in any policy for, or offer, or sell, buy, or offer or promise to buy or give, or promise, or allow, in any manner whatsoever:

(1) any shares of stock or other securities issued or at any time to be issued or any interest therein or rights thereto;

* * *

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah had the

statutory predecessor of this section before it in the case of *Utah Association of Life Underwriters v. Mountain States Life Insurance Co.*, 58 Utah 579, 200 P. 673 (1921). On page 677 of the foregoing decision, the court stated as follows:

* * * Then, again, it is manifest that the statute was enacted for the protection of the public and especially for the protection of those who are solicited to enter into life insurance contracts who may lack the experience and the opportunity to guard themselves against the wiles of the experienced life insurance solicitor. The statute should therefore be construed so as to accomplish its purpose and so as to protect those it intends to protect. If the plan that is pursued by the Company in disposing of its capital stock as outlined above is not contrary to the provisions of our statute, then we cannot conceive of any plan which merely disposed of the Company's stock in connection with the contract of insurance that would be contrary thereto. After a careful consideration of all of the evidence which is not and cannot be contradicted or explained, we are all agreed that the plan pursued by the Company in taking subscriptions for stock in connection with contracts of insurance is clearly violative of the provisions of our statute, and if permitted by this court would soon lead back to the very practices in writing life insurance which the statute, we think wisely, prohibits.

See the related statutory provision in Section 31-7-17, U.C.A. 1953.

POINT II.

STATUTES OF OUR STATE CLEARLY DEFINE
THE WORDS "INSURER" AND "PERSON" AND

THE APPELLANTS ARE CLEARLY WITHIN THE
STATUTORY DEFINITIONS.

Section 31-1-10, U.C.A. 1953, defines "insurer" as follows:

"Insurer" includes all persons engaged in the assumption of insurance risks. A reciprocal or inter-insurance exchange is an "insurer" as used in this code.

Section 31-1-9 defines "person" as follows:

"Person" means any individual, company, insurer, association, organization, reciprocal or inter-insurance exchange, partnership, business trust, or corporation.

The appellants do not contend that they are not "insurers" and "persons" as set out in the above definitions. The Department of Business Regulation, and the Insurance Commissioner, of the State of Utah made an express finding of fact that the appellants are indeed "insurers" and "persons", which finding was sustained by the District Court of Salt Lake County when the appellants took their appeal to that court. Therefore, no question is raised in this appeal as to the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the findings of fact of the Commission.

POINT III.

THE APPELLANTS CONTEND THAT THEY ARE EXEMPT FROM THE OPERATION OF THE STATUTES CITED UNDER POINT I; HOWEVER, THE STATUTES CITED IN POINT I ARE CLEARLY APPLICABLE TO SAID COMPANIES.

The main issue in this appeal for review centers

around the question as to whether or not these insurance companies are subject to the prohibitions set forth in the statutes above cited in Point I. The claim for exemption rests upon Section 31-31-15 which reads as follows:

Except as provided in this chapter, every such association shall not be subject to the other provisions of this code unless the context clearly indicates applicability to such association.

It is noted immediately that the exemption, if any exists, is qualified or limited to a great degree. This limited exemption is to be more narrowly construed in view of the fact that in Section 31-31-1 we find that the company shall “* * * comply with all the requirements and provisions of this chapter, and the general insurance laws of Utah relative to said association * * *.”

If this last quoted portion of Section 31-31-1 is to have any significance at all, it would appear that we must find in the general insurance laws of Utah many places where said laws are “clearly applicable” to companies that purport to be mutual benefit associations such as the companies before this Court. It is to be further noted that the terms and scope of Section 31-27-15 (quoted in Point I) are of the very broadest form; and under the definitions of our statutes above set out and the undisputed facts of this case, it must clearly appear that Section 31-27-15 is applicable to these companies. The companies here before the Court, in face of the undisputed evidence of their insurance company activities and of their corporate status, failed to introduce any evidence whatsoever to show that their business was not

that of "the assumption of insurance risks" or that they are not a "person" under the meaning of our statutes. The pride of these companies, as indicated by the record, is that they have written millions of dollars worth of insurance, and that they have consistently used the insurance language and have spoken of their policies as insurance policies.

It is to be further noted that the particular section which prohibits the activity carried on by the appellants is found in the Insurance Code in the chapter entitled, "Unfair or Deceptive Acts or Practices." By the same reasoning as used by appellants and with considerably more force than their argument that they are exempt from Section 31-27-15, the appellants could argue that they are also exempt from Section 31-27-3 which reads as follows:

No person shall knowingly file with any public official nor knowingly make, publish, or disseminate any financial statement of an insurer which does not accurately state the insurer's financial condition.

Perhaps the appellants could argue with some force that they are exempt from the provisions of Section 31-27-18 which reads as follows:

No person shall by misrepresentations or by misleading comparisons, induce or tend to induce any insured to lapse, terminate, forfeit, surrender, retain, or convert any insurance policy.

The point to be made by this line of discussion is that these insurance companies who are engaged as they are

in the business of selling insurance cannot be reasonably construed to be exempt from those provisions of our statutes which would prevent them from preying upon either other insurance companies or upon a gullible or uninformed public. Section 31-27-15 uses the most all-inclusive language that can be devised to bring everyone in the insurance business under its provisions. Surely this section is clearly applicable to appellants.

POINT IV.

THE INSURANCE CODE OF THE STATE OF UTAH PROVIDES FOR SERIOUS PENALTIES TO BE IMPOSED UPON INSURANCE COMPANIES FOR THE VIOLATION OF SECTION 31-27-15, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953.

Section 31-27-16 provides as follows:

The commissioner may revoke the certificates of authority or licenses of any insurer, general agent, agent, broker, or solicitor guilty of violating any provision contained in sections 31-27-14 and 31-27-15.

Section 31-7-17 contains a mandatory revocation of an insurance company's certificate of authority when it violates that provision, which provision is the same in purport as Section 31-27-15 which was used by the Insurance Commission as its authority to issue its cease and desist order. It is not the effect nor the purpose of the order of the Insurance Commission herein appealed from to put these companies out of business by revoking their certificates of authority, but the order merely requires that the practices of these companies in selling securities and selling insurance be separated. The order of the

Insurance Commission is clearly fair and equitable in face of the serious penalties set forth in our statutes.

DISTINCTIONS AND OBSERVATIONS

I. The majority of the authorities cited by the appellants are cases involving fraternal benefit associations which under our law, and under the statutes governing the cases cited, have express and unequivocal exemptions and, therefore, are not authorities for the proposition for which the appellants contend. The few cases involving mutual benefit associations are decided under statutory provisions which are different from our Section 31-31-15 and have strongly worded exemptions. However, by the same token the mutual benefit provisions of the insurance laws of those states are much more complete and far-reaching than the very short and limited treatment given to the field of mutual benefit associations in our own Insurance Code.

II. The appellants lay considerable stress upon the fact that prior statutory provisions, particularly governing mutual benefit associations, had an express prohibition against the activities such as carried on by appellants; but, in the 1947 codification of our insurance laws, that specific prohibition was not carried over into the particular section of the Insurance Code dealing with mutual benefit associations. However, it appears to counsel that this is of no particular significance inasmuch as a careful review of the insurance sections of our previous statutes shows that almost every different type of insurance company named in those previous enactments

was covered by this specific prohibition against the selling of stock and securities. However, when the 1947 Code was adopted, the various specific prohibitive sections under the various types of insurance companies were all removed and put into a single chapter known as Section 31-27, and entitled "Unfair or Deceptive Acts or Practices" and given the widest kind of language so that all insurance companies were included under the prohibition unless there is a specific and unequivocal exemption therefrom. It appears that the intention of the Legislature was nothing more than to cut down and eliminate duplication in the various sections of the insurance law in respect to this point, and does not appear to be an intent to give these companies a green light on acts and practices which have for many years been considered as unfair and deceptive.

III. The appellants have seemed to put some stress upon the alleged fact that the Insurance Commissioner did at one time issue certificates of authority to these companies. It is the view of counsel that appellants have overstated their case when they have imputed knowledge to the Insurance Commissioner of activities in their full scope and effect as carried on by these companies. The record clearly shows that in the State of Utah there are more than 521 insurance companies certified by the Insurance Commissioner and it is presumptuous indeed to impute full knowledge of the activities of these 521 insurance companies to the Insurance Commissioner. It is true that the articles of incorporation were filed with the Insurance Commissioner.

It could hardly be contended by appellants that should the Insurance Commissioner inadvertently, inappropriately, or wrongfully make an order, or issue a certificate of authority, he is forever bound by that action and is prevented from correcting that mistake. Stated another way, it would seem clear that if an administrative agency grants some order or certificates of authority which they have no power or right under applicable statutes to grant, the order or certificate of authority so granted is open to attack or correction by direct action of the administrative agency issuing said order or granting said authority. We see by the decisions of our own court that the order or certificate of authority granted wrongfully by the Insurance Commissioner is open to collateral attack in the courts of our State. (See *Utah Association of Life Underwriters v. Mountain States Life Insurance Co.*, supra, where the Supreme Court revoked the certificate of authority of the Mountain States Life Insurance Co. which had been issued by the Insurance Commissioner under a claim of authority by said commissioner.) The doctrine of administrative interpretation of the law cannot be binding upon the courts and is used only as an aid by the courts in helping resolve a problem which has arisen because some party has complained of an action of the administrative agency, and certainly would not have any application where the agency itself has decided to correct what later experience has indicated to be an obvious mistake. This last line of reasoning is not to be taken as an admission that the Insurance Commissioner, prior to this time, had con-

strued the statutes of our State in the manner contended for by appellants.

CONCLUSION

It would appear to counsel that the action taken by the Department of Business Regulation and the Insurance Commissioner is eminently fair and unquestionably in harmony with the facts and the law applicable thereto. The facts clearly establish that appellants are both "insurers" and "persons" within the meaning of our Insurance Code and must of necessity fall clearly under the prohibitive language of Section 31-27-15, U.C.A. 1953. The only organizations given an exemption from general insurance laws are hospital service plans, fraternal benefit associations, mutual fire companies, and cooperatives. However, cooperatives and mutual fire insurance companies are by their terms specifically brought under Section 31-27-; the exemption from the other part of the Insurance Code is unequivocal except for the places where they are specifically brought under other provisions; the significance of this fact would seem to be that mutual benefit associations will be brought under many of the general provisions of the Insurance Code without the Legislature having taken the job of setting them forth specifically.

It is respectfully submitted that the order brought to the Court for review was a proper order, amply supported, and arrived at a just result.

E. R. CALLISTER

Attorney General

PETER M. LOWE

Deputy Attorney General